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“Salinger’s daughter’s truths are as mesmerizing as his fiction. . . . There is information here that can’t help altering, and enlarging, our estimation of Salinger’s work. . . . This memoir may well prompt a reassessment of the place of Salinger’s fiction in American literature, and add a dimension to the marginalized mystic he’s become to many.”


—The New York Times


“An unprecedented look at one of the country’s most admired and reclusive writers.”


—USA Today


“A hot new tell-all memoir that blows the lid off her eighty-one-year-old father’s bizarre, secretive life. For J. D. Salinger fans and scholars, the details are fascinating. She sheds light on autobiographical elements in her father’s writing and shares acute psychological insights.”


—New York Post


“Margaret A. Salinger is an artful and accomplished writer.”


—The Toronto Sun


“Peggy Salinger has become a sort of dream catcher herself.”


—NPR’s Morning Edition


“Utterly riveting in its narrative and its hard-won conclusions.”


—The Globe and Mail (Toronto)


“Imagine finding your father not at home but through his books. That’s the journey Salinger’s daughter details in this remarkable piece of writing.”


—Pittsburgh Post-Gazette


“DREAM CATCHER exposes the cracks in the façade of the Salinger mystique.”


—Salon.com


“Margaret A. Salinger’s work shows the brilliance of what can happen when a woman’s way of seeing is adroitly applied to a man’s writing. . . . Rarely does a memoir do so much to make readers reconsider a body of fiction by a well-known writer. . . . This memoir has become one of the best books to surface in the world of Salinger criticism.”


—Academic Writing Review


“By fathering Margaret, or Peggy, America’s best-known creator of precocious fictional siblings begot a daughter with a level of brilliance and moral fiber that has proved capable of taking on both the challenge of the flesh-and-blood J. D. Salinger and the mystique he has gone to vast lengths to cultivate. . . . A master interpreter of her father’s work, Peggy skillfully balances her incisive readings of the stories with her father’s motives and behaviors. What makes it so remarkable is the brilliance with which, in describing the process of winning her own salvation, the author deconstructs the Salinger myth.”


—Richmond Times-Dispatch (VA)


“Peggy’s diverse achievements and experience make DREAM CATCHER unlike any memoir . . . darkly comic.”


—The Jerusalem Report


“Salinger’s writing is vivid and strong.”


—The Telegraph (UK)


“I found myself gaining personal insights from this book that applied to me both as a son and as a father. I could not ask for much more than that. There are, I believe, lessons here for all of us.”


—Buffalo Art News
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For my family





Introduction
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Dreams, books, are each a world . . .


with tendrils strong as flesh and blood . . .


—“Personal Talk,” William Wordsworth


I GREW UP IN A world nearly devoid of living people. Cornish, where we lived, was wild and woody, our nearest neighbors a group of seven moss-covered gravestones that my brother and I once discovered while tracking a red salamander in the rain, two large stones with five small ones at their feet marking the passing of a family long ago. My father discouraged living visitors to such an extent that an outsider, looking in, might have observed a wasteland of isolation. Yet, as one of my father’s characters, Raymond Ford, once wrote in his poem “The Inverted Forest”1: “Not wasteland, but a great inverted forest, With all foliage underground.” My childhood was lush with make-believe: wood sprites, fairies, a bower of imaginary friends, books about lands somewhere East of the Sun and West of the Moon. My father, too, spun tales of characters, both animal and human, who accompanied us throughout our day. My mother read to me by the hour. Years later, I read that my father’s character Holden Caulfield had dreamt of having children in such a place someday; “we’d hide them away,” he said, in his little cabin by the edge of a forest. He and his wife would buy them lots of books and teach them how to read and write.


In real life, however, it was a world that dangled between dream and nightmare on a gossamer thread my parents wove, without the reality of solid ground to catch a body should he or she fall. My parents dreamt beautiful dreams, but did not have the skill to wrest them from the air and bring them to fruition in daily life. My mother was a child when she had me. She remained a dreamer, and, like Lady Macbeth, a tortured nightwalker, for many years. My father, a writer of fiction, is a dreamer who barely can tie his own shoelaces in the real world, let alone warn his daughter she might stumble and fall.


Fiction, other worlds, other realities, were, for my father, far more real than living flora and fauna, flesh and blood. I remember once we were looking out of his living room window together at the beautiful view of field and forest, a patchwork of farms and mountains fading into the far distance. He waved a hand across it all as if to wipe it out and said, “All of this is maya, all an illusion. Isn’t that wonderful?” I didn’t say anything, but for me, who had fought long and hard for anything resembling solid ground, the idea of its vanishing from underneath me in one fell swoop was anything but wonderful. Vertigo, annihilation, terror, are words that come to my mind, certainly not wonderful. This was the dark side of the Inverted Forest.


I grew up in a world both terrible and beautiful, and grossly out of balance. It is, perhaps, part of the human condition that children, as they grow to adulthood, must disentangle themselves from who their parents dreamt they might be, in order to figure out who they really are or hope to be. For my mother, for my father’s sister, and myself, this task brought us near to drowning, so entangled were we in tendrils, strong as flesh and blood, fantastic garlands of my father’s dreams.






	Laertes


	Drowned! O, where?







	Queen


	
There is a willow grows askant the brook,


That shows his hoar leaves in the glassy stream.


Therewith fantastic garlands did she make. . . .


When down her weedy trophies and herself


Fell in the weeping brook. . . .


Which time she chanted snatches of old lauds,


As one incapable of her own distress,


Or like a creature native and endued


Unto that element. But long it could not be


Till that her garments, heavy with their drink,


Pulled the poor wretch from her melodious lay


To muddy death.








	 


	(Hamlet, IV, vii, 189–208)








My father once told a friend that for him the act of writing was inseparable from the quest for enlightenment, that he intended devoting his life to one great work, and that the work would be his life—there would be no separation. In real life, when he chooses to make himself available, he can be funny, intensely loving, and the person you most want to be with; however, for such maya as living persons to get in the way of his work, to interrupt the holy quest, is to commit sacrilege. I was nearly middle-aged before I broke the silence, broke the family idol guarding generations of moldy secrets, both real and imagined, and began to shed some light and fresh air, wholesome and life-giving as Cornish breezes.


After my son was born, I felt an urgency to make my way through the magic and the miasma alike, through both history and fiction, to figure out what is real and what is not, what is worth saving and passing on to my son as his precious inheritance, and what I want to filter out, as the Native American dream catcher that hangs over his bed filters out the nightmares in its web and lets the good dreams drip down the feather onto his sleeping forehead.


Although I thought that, as Holden said in the opening of The Catcher in the Rye, “my parents would have about two hemorrhages apiece if I told anything pretty personal about them . . . especially my father,” I’m surprised and grateful about how generous the women in our family, my mother and my father’s only sister, have been with their stories when I finally worked up the nerve to ask. I also took my father’s advice to a young lady, an English student, many years ago, when he told her that he thought she’d do much better on her paper without any active cooperation by him. He was very polite and said he appreciated her good will; nevertheless, he told her, the biographical facts you want are in my stories, in one form or another, including the traumatic experiences you asked about. So with the help of my reflections on our life together, my reading and research into my father’s life and work, and many long conversations with my aunt and my mother, I managed to piece together a story of how the Salinger family “was occupied and all.” It may resemble a crazy quilt, but perhaps that’s appropriate, too.
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1. “The Inverted Forest,” Cosmopolitan 123 (Dec. 1947): 73–109.





PART ONE


A FAMILY HISTORY:


1900–1955


“How my parents were occupied and all before they had me”
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Four gray walls, and four gray towers,


Overlook a space of flowers,


And the silent isle imbowers


The Lady of Shalott. . . .


There she weaves by night and day


A magic web with colors gay.


She has heard a whisper say,


A curse is on her if she stay


To look down to Camelot.


—“The Lady of Shalott,” Alfred, Lord Tennyson





1


“Sometimes Thro’ the Mirror Blue”1
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“Now, Kitty, let’s consider who it was that dreamed it all. This is a serious question, my dear, and you should not go on licking your paw like that—as if Dinah hadn’t washed you this morning! You see, Kitty, it must have been either me or the Red King. He was part of my dream, of course—but then I was part of his dream, too! Was it the Red King, Kitty? You were his wife, my dear, so you ought to know—Oh, Kitty, do help to settle it! I’m sure your paw can wait!”


—Chapter 12, “Which Dreamed It?”


Through the Looking-Glass, Lewis Carroll


MAMA SAID THAT WHEN SHE was a little girl, before her house in London was bombed, she would often creep out of her bed at night and open the door between her nursery and the top of the back staircase that led down to the kitchen. She’d tiptoe downstairs to make sure the door was closed and no servants were around. Then, spreading her white nightgown around her and slowly rising off the ground, she would fly up and down the passageway. She knew she hadn’t been dreaming because when she awoke on mornings after flight, there would be dust on her fingertips where she had touched the ceiling.2


My mother was a child hidden away. She, like many upper-class and upper-middle-class English children of her day, was raised by staff in the nursery. I grew up hearing grim tales of nursery life. The one brief, bright spot was a nice governess, Nurse Reed, who took little Claire home with her on visits to her family. Nurse Reed’s replacement, a Swiss-German who, among her many delightful qualities, used to force Claire, after lunch, to sit on the toilet until she “produced,” or until suppertime, whichever came first, was more the norm. I knew, too, that she was sent to convent boarding school when she was only five years old and that she was taught to bathe her little body under a sheet so God wouldn’t be offended by her nakedness. I used to think about that when I was a little girl sitting in the tub, how scary a wet sheet over you would feel, as if you’d get caught under the immensity of it and sucked down the drain. Once, when I was in the hospital with poison ivy, my mother told me that when she was at the convent and got poison ivy, the nuns scrubbed her head to toe, beneath the sheet of course, with a bristle brush and lye soap to remove the evil ivy boils.


What I didn’t understand was why she was there. I didn’t wonder about it when I was little and assumed that things just happen to children as inexorably as the catechism. But now, as an adult, it no longer made sense to me, and I asked her about it. My mother explained that at the time, in the fall of 1939, the fact that loomed largest in most Londoners’ lives was that there was a war on. During the Blitz, parents with the means and “any sense at all,” she said, took their families out of London and went to stay with friends or relatives in the country. The Douglas family had both country relations and money; nevertheless, Claire and her brother, Gavin, were packed on a train, unaccompanied, “with all the poor children,” and evacuated to a convent at St. Leonard’s-by-the-Sea. St. Leonard’s had the unfortunate geographical attribute of being opposite Dunkirk, and they were soon evacuated again, this time inland to a sister convent in what my mother only remembers as a red-bricked city. She was five years old.


There was no comfort to be found in her elder brother, who, at seven, had a well-developed penchant for torturing animals and small girls. “He liked to cause pain, poor boy, it confused him terribly.” “Why?” I asked, grateful that she had never let “the poor boy” anywhere near her daughter while he was alive. “Mom, what was wrong with Gavin?” The answer came back flat and blunt: “The man my mother got her black market meat from was a pederast. When he came to the house, he bothered me a couple of times, but it was mostly my brother he was interested in, not me, thank God. I don’t think he ever recovered from it.”


In the fall of 1941, as Jerome Salinger had his first story, “The Young Folks,” published, Claire, age seven, and her nine-year-old brother, Gavin, were put on a train to Southampton, where they were met by a governess. She informed them that their family’s house had been bombed and had burnt to the ground. The Douglases had been out for the evening when the bomb struck, but Claire’s beloved kitten, Tiger Lily, was nowhere to be found. The governess deposited Claire and Gavin on a ship, the Scythia, offering the children no explanation. Her duty accomplished, she turned and marched off the ship.


The ship was packed with stunned, weeping children headed for the safety of the United States to sit out the war. One bit of contact, which Claire clung to like a life preserver, was to stand on the deck each day and wave to the children on the deck of their sister ship, The City of Benares, which carried the same cargo of unaccompanied children and sailed alongside them in close convoy. The children would wave back to her. Several days out of Southampton, as Claire was exchanging waves, a German torpedo ripped into the side of the Benares. It exploded into flames. Claire watched in mute horror as it sank, children screaming and dancing as they burned.


The Scythia disembarked at Halifax, Nova Scotia. From Halifax, Claire and Gavin traveled alone by train to Waycross, Georgia, to meet their first host family. They were in Georgia when, on December 7 of that year, the Japanese bombed Pearl Harbor. Before the war’s end, they would be removed from eight different American foster homes because of Gavin’s behavior. “And you know what happens to little girls in foster care . . . ,” my mother said, as though we were both in on some kind of secret not to be mentioned, only hinted at.


Their second placement was in Tampa, Florida. She remembers being terribly sunburned and attributes her midlife melanoma to her Tampa stay. The next stop, about the time Staff Sergeant Jerome Salinger was preparing to take Utah Beach on D-Day, was Wilmington, Delaware, where she attended the Tower Hill School for about a year. This was followed by placements with families in Allentown, Pennsylvania; Sea Girt, New Jersey; and Glens Falls, New York.


I never heard about these places growing up. My mother didn’t have to think for two seconds, though, to remember. The towns, and the order in which the placements occurred, were literally at her fingertips as she ticked them off, counting on her fingers the way my son, at age four, might display his mastery of the days of the week. “Waycross, Tampa, Wilmington . . .”


“Where were your parents?” I asked, assuming they must have been unable to leave England. She told me that her father, an art dealer, came to America shortly after she did, in 1941, to sell some pictures in New York. He was stuck there while the shipping passage was blocked by German U-boats. When it opened, he sent for his wife and they spent the duration of the war in New York City building up the business at Duveen Brothers3 and getting established.


When the war ended, the foster program ended, too, and the Douglases had to collect their children, at which point Claire was sent off to the Convent of the Holy Child in Suffern, New York, where she stayed until the end of eighth grade; Gavin went to Milton Academy. “How were they able to have their children taken care of by American families on that war program when they were in the country themselves?” I asked her as she told me this story. She shook her head and said, “God only knows what story my mother told them.”


She stayed with her parents in their New York apartment on the occasional school holiday, sleeping under the dining room table—for reasons unknown and probably unquestioned. In eighth grade, she refused to go back to the convent. “They were doing a number on my head, trying to coerce me into becoming a nun. The whole school was ordered to shun me, not to speak to me, until I had declared my decision. I was going mad.” Her parents did not, or could not, force her to return, and in the fall of 1947 they enrolled her, instead, at Shipley, a girls’ boarding school in Bryn Mawr, Pennsylvania.


Three years later, in the fall of 1950, she met a writer named Jerry Salinger at a party in New York given by Bee Stein, an artist, and her husband, Francis Steegmuller, a writer for The New Yorker. Claire’s parents lived in the same apartment building as the Steegmullers on East Sixty-sixth Street, and through their shared interest in the arts, they had become good friends as well as neighbors. Claire was sixteen and had just begun her senior year at Shipley. She arrived at the party looking strikingly beautiful, with the wide-eyed, vulnerable, on-the-brink look of Audrey Hepburn in Breakfast at Tiffany’s or Leslie Caron in Gigi, a movie my father loved so much that he bought a reel-to-reel copy and played it for us so many times when I was growing up that, to this day, I can still sing the lyrics beginning to end. As a child, I never heard the names Holden Caulfield or Seymour Glass, but even now I can’t hold a glass of champagne without hearing in my mind the song “The Night They Invented Champagne” from Gigi.


Our shared world was not books, but rather, my father’s collection of reel-to-reel movies. During the long winters, our human visitors were, essentially, supplied courtesy of MGM. My father would set up the screen in front of the fireplace in the living room, and I’d lie on the rug watching Hitchcock’s The 39 Steps, The Lady Vanishes, Foreign Correspondent; Laurel and Hardy; W. C. Fields; and the Marx Brothers, to name a few of our favorites. The neat, plastic videocassettes he now owns are a sterile substitute for the sensuous delight I remember then. My father would take the reel from the round metal case, as though unwrapping a present, and place it on the projector spindle. I watched him thread the film through the maze of the projector in a lovely over and under hide-and-seek; his hands knew the special moves and codes for each location. When I threaded my old treadle Singer sewing machine for my 4-H class, I felt the same thrill of competence, of secrets mastered.


When he secured the tail of the film in the empty reel, he was ready for me to turn off the lights. A thin blue stream of light beamed from the projector, widening as it moved toward the screen, smoke and dust playing in the flickering light. First the leader tape passed through with its strange hieroglyphics of bull’s-eyes and numbers and scratches, absent the dire modern video warnings about the FBI, imprisonment, and fines written in legalese. Then the title appeared with the movie’s music and opening credits.


Most of his movies were on two or three reels, so in the middle of the movie we had to stop, turn on the lights, and wait while my father rewound the spent reel and threaded the next. I liked the sound of the film at the end of each reel slapping against my father’s hand as it pulled free of the projector. I’d never stick my hand in the midst of all that flapping. He wasn’t scared of getting cut at all, even when he had to stop the movie and splice the film together where it broke.


Rewinding the film at intervals was also a chance for me to rewind, have a drink of juice or some peanuts, reassurance that the world, as I knew it, still existed. Some of the Hitchcock movies scared me half to death, and not in a fun way. Much to my father’s disgust, I always had to leave the room in the middle of Foreign Correspondent and put my head under a pillow to block out the screams of that sweet old man, Van Meer, when the Nazis tortured him in a windmill, offscreen, to get him to talk. Of my flights to the next room, my father would say, “Christ, all you and your mother want to see are sentimental pictures about Thanksgiving and puppy dogs.” In my father’s vocabulary, sentimental was a very damning word indeed.


Old Hitchcock movies, especially, became our secret language. As late as my senior year of high school, I’d receive a postcard saying simply, “There is a man in Scotland I must meet if anything is to be done. These men act quickly, quickly”—signed, in my dad’s handwriting, “Annabella Smith, Alt-na Shelloch, Scotland” (from The 39 Steps). When my brother was at boarding school, I received many a letter from him signed “Huntley Haverstock” (Foreign Correspondent). In short, we’d all light on the choice of Leslie Caron or Audrey Hepburn, rather than some literary character, to describe the young Claire when they first met.


Claire wore her chestnut hair smoothed back from her lovely forehead. Pretty mouth, fullish lips, and the kind of high cheekbones that promise a beauty that does not fade with youth. Claire’s large eyes are a limpid, liquid blue that reflect the ambient world, the way only hazel or green eyes are supposed to do. On a stormy day her eyes look gray and wind-tossed; on a bright day at the beach, like blue sea glass and white sails. When her eyes became the color of a burnt match, it was a signal to her children to run and hide, fast. When her eyes became opaque, like those of a dead fish belly-up at the pond, it was time for me, the elder of her children, to take charge and do whatever needed to be done to survive, because she could no more see us than a dead fish can see the flies buzzing around its eyes.


Those little eyes so helpless and appealing,


one day will flash and send you crashing through the ceiling.


(“Thank Heaven for Little Girls,” from Gigi)


The night my parents met, her eyes shone like a beacon across the room. She was wearing a mid-blue linen dress with a darker blue velvet collar, simple and elegant as a wild iris. “God, I loved that dress. I was a model for a designer called Nan Duskin that summer in New York. She let me keep it at the end of the season . . . said it was made for me. And it was, it matched my eyes perfectly. I’ve never worn anything more beautiful in my life.”


“You wore a gown of gold . . .”


“I wore blue that night, and the month was June.”


(“I Remember It Well,” from Gigi)


Jerry, at thirty-one, was nearly twice her age and was quite simply, or rather, quite complicatedly, tall, dark, and handsome. My father captures his own image, refracted through the eyes of his beloved, fictional Glass family. Under the guise of Buddy Glass as the purported author of Seymour: An Introduction, he writes that several members of the Glass family, including himself, have eyes that “could all be rather bashfully described as extra-dark oxtail in color, or Plaintive Jewish Brown.” What I can tell you as his daughter, without the bashfulness of a male narrator, or the self-consciousness of a person looking at his own image in the mirror, is that my father’s eyes are absolutely beautiful, with thick, long, black eyelashes—inherited by my brother and, a generation later, by my son; the kind that women in the park, peeking into a carriage, click their tongues over and say, “Why is it always the boys who get those gorgeous long lashes?”


Buddy, continuing to describe or “introduce” his revered, dead brother, Seymour, writes: “. . . he had very wiry black hair. The word is almost kinky, but not quite; . . . It was most exceedingly pullable-looking hair, and pulled it surely got; the babies in the family always automatically reached for it, even before the nose, which, God wot, was also Outstanding.”
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WHEN JERRY AND CLAIRE saw each other from across the room at the Steegmullers’ party, Claire was dumbstruck.4 They had each brought a date to the party, “so we couldn’t really talk much,” she told me. Every time she looked up, though, their eyes seemed to meet and she felt herself blush, afraid he might think she was rather forward. The next day Jerry phoned the hostess to thank her, and to ask her about that beautiful girl in the blue dress. She gave him Claire’s address at Shipley.


The next week, Claire received a letter from Jerry. She wrote a letter to him in return, agonizing over it, afraid she might not sound clever enough to a real writer. He telephoned and wrote to her off and on throughout the 1950–51 school year. She knew from his letters that he was hard at work finishing a novel. She thinks he changed the school that Holden’s friend Jane Gallagher attended to Shipley for her. “It was the sort of thing he’d do, but I was too in awe and on my best behavior to ask.”


She knew, too, that Jerry was seriously considering becoming a monk. He had become friends with Daisetz Suzuki and meditated, he told her, at a Zen center in the Thousand Islands. The next year, when The Catcher in the Rye was published, he abruptly switched to Vedanta5 and often studied with Swami Nikhilananda at the Vedanta center in the East Nineties. But he had already met Claire.


“That’s right,” Teddy said. “I met a lady, and I sort of stopped meditating.” He took his arms down from the armrests, and tucked his hands, as if to keep them warm, under his thighs. “I would have had to take another body and come back to earth again anyway—I mean I wasn’t so spiritually advanced that I could have died, if I hadn’t met that lady, and then gone straight to Brahma and never again have to come back to earth. But I wouldn’t have had to get incarnated in an American body if I hadn’t met that lady.”


(“Teddy” in Nine Stories, JDS)


When Claire came home to New York from Shipley for the summer, they started seeing each other. This was soon interrupted when each left for Europe, Jerry to the British Isles, to avoid being in America for the publication of The Catcher. “It’s a goddam embarrassment, publishing,” he once said to a fellow writer. “The poor boob who lets himself in for it might as well walk down Madison Avenue with his pants down.”


Claire went to Italy, to be with her dying father. It did not come as a surprise to anyone who knew her father that old age finally caught up with Robert Langdon Douglas, or RLD as he was called by friends. He was nearly seventy when Claire, the last of his fifteen or so children, was born in 1933. Baron’s Knights and Peerage records nine of them. By the time she can remember him, he was suffering from senile dementia. She told me once, at an age when I, too, would have “died” of embarrassment, that in the middle of a formal dinner party at their home in London, he boomed across the table in his plummy churchman’s voice, “Claire, have you moved your bowels today?”


RLD’s final years were characterized by similar occurrences of progressive unpredictability; however, his decision to repair to Italy to spend his last days rather than to the Black Douglas Clan’s lair in Scotland was well considered. Two divergent paths of his long life led him, at the end, to San Girolamo, a convent and nursing home for retired clergy, high in the hills above Florence. He had been an Anglican priest and had had a parish in Oxford, England, for a time. Several wives and even more offspring later, it was thought best that he find some other mode of employment, and he began his second, highly successful career as an art dealer and historian. “Your grandfather,” I’ve been told, “was largely responsible for putting the early Italian Masters, especially the Sienese, back on the map.” He wrote a lovely book on Fra Angelico, and though RLD was dead long before I was born, I used to take great comfort falling asleep beneath Giotto’s dark-skinned Madonna and Child when, as a young girl, I visited my grandmother in New York. Perhaps RLD did, too; toward the end of his life he converted to Catholicism.


When he died, he was awarded a hero’s funeral in Siena, where he is entombed in a great wall. My mother said the whole city turned out in medieval procession that day, with costumes, trumpets, and pageantry, to pay homage to the man who, through his work, had restored such honor to their city. My mother gave me his funeral proclamation by the city of Siena, a two-foot-by-three-foot document worthy of an honorary Italian.


After the funeral, Claire returned to New York. Jerry was back as well and had settled into an apartment on Fifty-seventh Street. When Claire first saw it, she was speechless. It was, she told me, “one of those partly underground, ground-floor places, very underwater feeling. The whole apartment was black and white. I was appalled, frightened, excited, bug-eyed at the black sheets on his bed. They were the height of sophistication and depravity to me. For Jerry, though, I think the black sheets and the black bookshelves, black coffee table, and so on matched his depression. He really had black holes where he could hardly move, barely talk.”


Claire would stay the night with him on those black sheets, but they were not intimate. Jerry was very involved with Vivekananda’s Vedanta center at the time, she told me, and as his character Teddy said, meeting a woman was heading in the wrong direction for enlightenment. Sri Ramakrishna, Swami Vivekananda’s guru and predecessor, expressed the same opinion, though more forcibly, in his book The Gospels of Sri Ramakrishna (which my father sent to his British publisher, Hamish Hamilton, as the only thing worth reading), saying:


A man may live in a mountain cave, smear his body with ashes, observe fasts, and practice austere discipline, but if his mind dwells on worldly objects, on “woman and gold,” I say, “Shame on him!” “Woman and gold” are the most fearsome enemies of the enlightened way, and woman rather more than gold, since it is woman that creates the need for gold. For woman one man becomes the slave of another, and so loses his freedom. Then he can not act as he likes.


When a disciple of Ramakrishna’s confesses that he has been enjoying sexual intercourse with his wife, Ramakrishna replies, “Aren’t you ashamed of yourself? You have children, and still you enjoy intercourse with your wife. Don’t you hate yourself for thus leading an animal life? Don’t you hate yourself for dallying with a body which contains only blood, phlegm, filth, and excreta?”


The summer after her freshman year at Radcliffe, Claire was back in New York, where she had a summer job as a model for Lord & Taylor. She was careful to hide this from Jerry: “Your father would not have approved, all that vain, worldly, women-and-clothes stuff. . . . I didn’t dare tell him.”


Around the time Jerry began seeing Claire, he went on a couple of dates with Leila Hadley, a writer, whom he met through his friend S. J. Perelman. When Ms. Hadley saw that same apartment on East Fifty-seventh Street, she described it as “extremely bare”:


There was just a lamp and an artist’s drawing board. He used to do rather good sketches, and when I read “De Daumier-Smith’s Blue Period,” I was sure he had based the hero on himself. On the wall of his apartment there was a picture of himself in uniform.6


In contrast to the young Claire, who was “too in awe and on my best behavior to ask” any personal questions, Ms. Hadley was confident enough, mature enough, to ask him questions and offer her own opinions rather than reflect his own. She said that Jerry “never talked about himself and he resented any personal questions—about his family, or his background. . . . [He] was not easy to be with.” Their relationship was a brief one.
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THIS RESENTMENT OF QUESTIONS about family and background, about connections from island to mainland, runs like a mother lode through our family. (Recall the opening of The Catcher in the Rye: “If you really want to hear about it, the first thing you’ll probably want to know is where I was born, and what my lousy childhood was like, and how my parents were occupied and all before they had me . . . my parents would have about two hemorrhages apiece if I told anything pretty personal about them. They’re quite touchy about anything like that, especially my father.”) My aunt Doris—Daddy’s only sister—and I were talking recently about being raised not to ask any questions, and most especially, not to ask questions about one’s background, or as Holden put it, how one’s parents “were occupied and all before they had” you. Doris told me that by the time she was about seven, shortly after her brother was born, she had “learned enough about the birds and the bees” to figure out that her mother, Miriam, must have had parents. One day she said, “Mother, you must have a mother and daddy somewhere. Where are they?”


Her mother snapped, “People die, don’t they?”


That’s it. That was all she said. Doris heard from one of her aunts on the Salinger side that Miriam was heartbroken when, years later, her mother actually did die. Miriam never said a word about it to Doris though. Later that same year Doris saw her mother packing a box full of their baby clothes. Thinking they might be for her mysterious family, Doris asked her whom she was sending them to. “It is none of your business,” she was told with a glare.


“Well, I just shut up and took it like I always did,” Doris told me.


She has heard a whisper say,


A curse is on her if she stay


To look down to Camelot.





1. “And sometimes thro’ the mirror blue, The knights come riding two and two: She hath no loyal knight and true, The Lady of Shalott.”


2. “[Franny, age seven] went on at beautiful length about how she used to fly all around the apartment when she was four and no one was home. . . . He said she surely just dreamt that she was able to fly. The baby stood her ground like an angel. She said she knew she was able to fly because when she came down she always had dust on her fingers from touching the light bulbs” (Raise High the Roof Beam, Carpenters, p. 9).


3. A privately owned art gallery in Paris and Manhattan, specializing in Old Masters. Edward Fowles and a partner inherited the business when Lord Duveen died in 1939. My grandmother married “Uncle” Edward, as we called him, after my grandfather died. Uncle Edward’s memoir, Memories of Duveen Brothers: Seventy Years in the Art World, is a wonderful resource for anyone interested in the wheelings and dealings of the art world—its patrons, saints, forgers, and other colorful people.


4. The wife of a New York editor told Ian Hamilton about meeting Jerry a year or two later: “I met Jerry Salinger at a party given, I think, by or for his English publisher. . . . I was not prepared for the extraordinary impact of his physical presence. There was a kind of black aura about him. He was dressed in black; he had black hair, dark eyes, and he was of course extremely tall. I was kind of spellbound” (Ian Hamilton, In Search of J. D. Salinger [New York: Random House, 1988], p. 124). The author Leila Hadley, who went on a few dates with him just before The Catcher was published, recalls a similar reaction. She speaks of his “extraordinary presence—very tall, with a sort of darkness surrounding him. His face was like an El Greco.”


5. Vedanta: a system of Hindu monistic or pantheistic philosophy founded on the Vedas (Webster’s).


6. Hamilton, Salinger, p. 127.
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Landsman
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Landsman: (Yiddish) someone who came from the same town or village or shtetl in Europe as you. A kinsman in foreign lands of “gray walls and gray towers.” A kindred spirit.


MY HUSBAND AND I WENT to visit Aunt Doris after our son was born to show her the baby while she still retained some of her eyesight.1 Perhaps because of the presence of new life, questions of where do we come from, who are we, and where are we going pressed upon me. My aunt is no longer one to just “shut up and take it,” and she graciously provided me with some vital connections to the mainland as it were; she spoke to me as though it were naturally my business to wonder about our family. After offering us tea and sitting down, she paused and brushed some imaginary crumbs off the couch in her one-bedroom “assisted living” unit in the Berkshires. She is nearly blind now and partially deaf, but even my father, the recipient of several heated conversations and letters in which she accused him of neglecting her and the rest of his family, admits her mind is sharp. Knowing this, I respect her silences and don’t try to “bring her back” as one might with a person whose mind wanders off, the years gobbling up the crumbs left behind as a trail to find one’s way home through the dark forest. She was deep in thought. “You know, Peggy, your father and I were the best of friends growing up. I used to take him to the movies with me when he was very little. In those days, you know, the movies were silent and had subtitles that I had to read to him out loud. Boy, he wouldn’t let you miss a single one. The rows used to empty out all around us!”


Doris told me that when she was a very little girl, before my father was born, the family lived in Chicago where Sol, her father, ran a movie theater and her mother, Miriam, took the tickets and sold concessions. “Of all those Jews in the business at that time,” Doris said, “Daddy was the only one who didn’t make it big.” Instead, Sol went into the food importing business for J. S. Hoffman and Co. based in Chicago. He was successful, so much so that Hoffman asked him to manage the New York office. Sol took the promotion and moved the family to New York, where my father was born.


Doris said that her upbringing was very different from her brother’s. “We had some money by the time Sonny2 was born. That made a big difference.” There were six years between them, because their mother had had two miscarriages. When she was hospitalized with pneumonia during her sixth month of pregnancy, the doctors said that there wasn’t much hope for the baby. But on New Year’s Day, 1919, out came a nine-pound baby boy, Jerome David, nicknamed “Sonny.” “That was really something special,” Doris said. “In a Jewish family, you know, a boy is special. Mother doted on him, he could do no wrong. I thought he was perfect, too.” Although she spent a lot of her time looking after her little brother, she didn’t mind. “Mother was very good about not asking me to baby-sit when I had friends over or some other plans.” Interrupting her own train of thought—permission to change course without explanation or self-consciousness is a gift only old people seem to have the grace and authority of years to give themselves—she said, “Did Mother ever tell you the Little Indian story about Sonny?” I shook my head. “Well, one afternoon I was supposed to be taking care of Sonny while Mother was out shopping. He couldn’t have been older than three or four at the most. I was about ten. Well, we had a big fight about something, I forget what it was about, but Sonny got so mad he packed his suitcase and ran away. He was always running away. When Mother came home from shopping a few hours later, she found him in the lobby. He was dressed from head to toe in his Indian costume, long feather headdress and all.3 He said, ‘Mother, I’m running away, but I stayed to say good-bye to you.’


“When she unpacked his suitcase, it was full of toy soldiers.”


[image: Images]


MY AUNT’S RETELLING OF THIS family story brought to mind one of my father’s characters, Lionel, in a short story called “Down at the Dinghy” (reprinted in Nine Stories), who is about the same age as the Little Indian, Sonny. As the story opens, Lionel, like Sonny, has run away again. The housekeeper, Mrs. Snell, and the maid, Sandra, are talking about it:


“I mean ya gotta weigh every word ya say around him,” Sandra said. “It drives ya loony.” . . . Sandra snorted . . . “A four-year-old kid!”


“He’s kind of a good-lookin’ kid,” said Mrs. Snell. “Them big brown eyes and all.”


Sandra snorted again. “He’s gonna have a nose just like the father.”4


Lionel’s mother, Boo Boo Tannenbaum, née Glass (sister of Seymour, Franny and Zooey, Walt and Waker, and Buddy Glass), enters the room, which silences their unpleasant exchange, but leaves it unclear why he has run away. Boo Boo finds Lionel down at their dinghy. He is wearing a T-shirt with a “dye picture, across the chest, of Jerome the Ostrich,” hiding his head in the sand, as it were. After a long conversation in which Lionel refuses to tell his mother what happened to make him break his promise never to run away again, Boo Boo climbs into the dinghy and tries to say something comforting. She is interrupted by his sobbing outburst: “Sandra—told Mrs. Smell—that Daddy’s a big—sloppy—kike.”


After a little while, she asks him, “Do you know what a kike is, baby?”


Lionel was either unwilling or unable to speak up at once. At any rate, he waited till the hiccupping aftermath of his tears had subsided a little. Then his answer was delivered, muffled but intelligible, into the warmth of Boo Boo’s neck. “It’s one of those things that go up in the air,” he said. “With a string you hold.”
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AS I STARTED TO tell Aunt Doris a story about my son, she interrupted me and said, “Peggy, make sure you have a job or something when your son is a little older. Don’t let him become your whole life. It’s no good. Mother lived through her children. She was very lucky that Sonny is as successful as he is. It was always Sonny and Mother, Mother and Sonny. Daddy got the short end of the stick always. He never got the recognition he deserved.”


I asked her if their father was around much during their childhood, or if he was at work most of the time, like all the offstage, absent fathers in my father’s stories, from Holden’s attorney father, whom we never meet, to “Les” Glass. She said, “Oh, no, he played with us a lot, especially when we went on vacation to the shore during the summers. When we were very little, Daddy used to hold Sonny and me around our middles, out in the waves, and say, ‘Keep your eyes peeled for the bananafish.’ Boy, did we look and look.”


Aunt Doris said that she has only one “real complaint” about her upbringing. What still troubles her wasn’t the general silence regarding their family stories and background, so much as the way her parents kept one particular fact hidden from their children, then finally disclosed it in a revelation that Doris, a very levelheaded woman, given to understatement rather than to drama of any sort, said she could only describe as “traumatic.” It was so awful, she said, that she can’t even remember just how it happened, only that her parents “handled it terribly.” When Doris was nearly twenty, shortly after Sonny’s bar mitzvah, their parents told them that they weren’t really Jewish. Their mother, Miriam, was actually named Marie, and she had been “passing” as a Jew since her marriage to Sol.


Until that moment, I never knew that my father grew to adolescence believing both of his parents were Jews. He has often told me that he writes about half-Jews because, he says, that’s what he knows best. Unlike my aunt, however, I grew up knowing that my granny, their mother, was Catholic. But beyond the fact that nuns were somehow involved, I had no idea, nor did I question, what being Catholic meant. Daddy said that Granny sometimes told people she was “high Episcopalian” because it sounded “tonier,” but she was actually a Catholic girl from County Cork, Ireland. Aunt Doris told me that she was surprised to hear this. She said, in typical New Yorker fashion, she had always thought her mother was born in “Iowa, or Ohio, one of those places,” and wasn’t sure about the Catholic part even now. However, she said, Sonny probably knew better than she did. “He was more persistent at asking questions than I was, and also he got away with a lot more than I did, being a boy.” After they were told that their mother wasn’t Jewish, she remembered something her mother had said, and guessed, in hindsight, that her mother might have been Catholic, but Doris never asked. “Mother suffered from chronic jaw pain, you know. She once mentioned to me that it was because when she was a little girl, the nuns at her school used to take a wooden mallet and hammer her teeth once a week to cure an overbite.” I remember Granny rubbing her jaw and wincing. I always assumed it was out of irritation, though, because my dad makes the exact same gesture whenever someone asks him anything personal or begins “picking his brains,” as he calls it.


Doris and I inherited the family overbite, and something else, too: it was Doris’s aunts and uncles—Sol’s brothers and sisters—who passed on the family stories and told her something of her family history after she was grown up. It was they who told her that her parents had met at a county fair near Marie’s parents’ farm (presumably in Ohio since Sol was there for the day from Chicago). Marie had beautiful auburn hair that hung down to her narrow waist. She turned heads when she passed by. “She was a real looker, your mother,” Doris was told by her uncle. Sol was a tall, handsome young man from the big city. When they eloped, he was twenty-two, she was seventeen. Marie Jillich became Miriam Salinger5 and was never to speak to her parents again.


As with most families, it’s difficult to sort out who isn’t talking to whom. One can be certain, however, that in those days an Irish Catholic young woman did not marry a Jewish man with impunity.6 Nor could a Jew marry out of his religion without a stir, but over time, Doris said, Sol’s mother grew to love Miriam as if she were one of her own daughters. When his mother died, Sol went to temple every day for a year. Doris believes that he did so because he felt guilty for marrying a non-Jew, even though his mother had accepted his choice. Who knows. From his mouth to God’s ear.


What I do know is that the whole subject of Jewishness is something my father is very touchy about indeed. The only way I can think of conveying a sense of this touchiness is to liken it to the way my son, at around four years old, behaved when the subject of bottoms came up (about a thousand times a day, if I recall rightly). It was a mixture of giggly interest, the “butt” of jokes, a swirling confluence of attraction and repulsion, the precious mystery withheld, and the flushed piece of himself. Totem and Taboo. In my father’s house, the arousal level occasioned by the mention of anything Jewish was matched only by the degree of occlusion of the real facts of life.


I heard, or rather felt, the pitch of emotion surrounding things Jewish when he told me stories about his childhood, but I never knew what to make of it. One story was about the time his grandfather from Chicago came to visit them in New York and my father, then a young boy, nearly died of embarrassment as his grandfather called out each street number on the Madison Avenue bus they were riding. “Forty-feef Street, Forty-seex Street,” my father would call out in a loud voice with a heavy Yiddish accent as he told the story.7


As with most things deeply embarrassing in our family, this story was transformed into a sort of running family joke. In sixth grade when I went away to camp, for example, Daddy wrote a letter kidding me that his grandfather, the one who called out the street names, would be joining me at camp, as a cabin-mate. Not to worry about pajamas, he didn’t really care for them anyway. Even though I was only nine at the time, I knew this was a little joke within a joke, a bit of shared snobbery about language, that some people think it sounds “tonier” to say I don’t “care for” pajamas when you mean I don’t like pajamas. I should just enjoy him, Daddy said.


This is not to say, however, that painful or embarrassing things were treated as humorous at the time they happened. I remember once my father, face flushed with emotion, looked up from a letter he was reading. He told me that he had been corresponding with a small group of Hasidic Jews for whom he felt real affection. This feeling of kinship, of finding landsmen, has been, in my father’s life, as precious as it was rare. He said he even sent them a little money from time to time, because they were quite poor. In the letter he was holding, the rebbe had asked him what was his mother’s maiden name.8 “I’ll cut them off,” he said, slashing the air with his hand. “I’ll never speak to them again.” I knew he was as good as his word; I’d seen it happen too often not to know he spoke with the finality of a man sitting shiva for a living son.9
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WHEN I FOLLOWED MY FATHER across the boundary from daily life into fictional life, I’d hoped to find, in his published stories, some clarification of the confusing, powerful feelings that things Jewish, and questions of background in general, evoke in him time and again. I came across this kind of exchange many times in my father’s fiction, this vetting of your true landsman status. However, in every story except “Down at the Dinghy,” the one about the four-year-old boy Lionel, the Jewishness at the heart of the matter is disguised, raising, until I spoke to my aunt, more questions than were answered. For example, whereas Daddy’s grandfather in real life had a loud, embarrassing Yiddish accent, his character, Les Glass, Seymour’s father, has an embarrassing Australian accent. (Australia, Gracie?) In my father’s last published story, “Hapworth,” the young Seymour writes from camp advising his father, a vaudeville singer, to lose the accent next time he makes a recording if he wants it to be a success. Seymour assures his father that the family is fond of his accent, but “the general public will not share that affection.”


In The Catcher in the Rye, this touchy subject comes up several times in regard to Holden’s religious background. In the scene in the train station where Holden has a pleasant conversation with two nuns at a breakfast counter, he tells them he really enjoyed talking to them. He tells the reader he really meant it; nevertheless, he would have enjoyed it more if he hadn’t been sort of afraid, the whole time he was talking to them, that they’d all of a sudden try to find out if he was Catholic. It happens to him a lot, he tells us, because his last name is Irish. Actually, Holden’s father had been an Irish Catholic until his marriage to Holden’s mother, at which time “he quit.” Holden tells the reader another story colored by the same anxiety about a conversation wending its way to questions of his background. He and a nice boy from Whooton were talking about tennis when the boy asked if he had happened to notice a Catholic church in town. Here, again, Holden tells us, it didn’t “ruin the conversation exactly,” but he knew the boy would have enjoyed it a lot more if Holden had been Catholic. “That kind of stuff drives me crazy.”


In the mirror of fiction, the Salingers switch places: my father’s Irish Catholic mother becomes, instead, Holden’s father, who quits his religion when he marries. The subject of anxiety changes from questions vetting one’s Jewishness to whether one is Catholic or not. Reading my father’s work recently, I wondered, Why the disguise? Why would the central character of his first book, which he had told friends would be an “autobiographical novel,”10 not be half-Jewish? Why would the Glass family, openly half-Jewish, wish to disguise an Australian accent? Why does my father get touchy in his fiction and in real life when the subject of background, especially Jewish background, arises?


Had I been born in my father’s generation, or had I been told what life was like for Jews of my father’s generation, I wouldn’t have asked these questions. The answer would have been as plain as the nose on my face. My aunt set me straight:


It wasn’t nice to be part-Jewish in those days. It was no asset to be Jewish either, but at least you belonged somewhere. This way you were neither fish nor fowl. Mother told me—she shouldn’t have, it was wrong of her—but she told me that when a woman from a finishing school in Dobbs Ferry that I had applied to came to interview the family, she said, “Oh, Mrs. Salinger, it’s too bad you married a Jew.” People talked like that in those days, you know. It was hard on me but it was hell on Sonny. I think he suffered terribly from anti-Semitism when he went away to military school.


“People talked like that in those days, you know.” In fact, I didn’t know. What people? I had always associated outspoken anti-Semitism in this country with the lunatic fringe, familiar TV news images of fat, unemployed guys with more guns than teeth ranting about how it’s the Jews’ fault he has no job and no teeth, a few disturbed adolescents vandalizing Jewish cemeteries, and the occasional neo-Nazi weirdos, heiling Hitler in their pine-paneled basement rec rooms. How I managed to reach the age of forty with such a mix of ignorance and snobbery is something I’m not proud of. It is truly frightening what you miss when you don’t ask the right questions and when whole subjects, such as your family history, are taboo. Never mind the ancient Greeks and Romans I learned about as a history major at Brandeis; better late than never, I set out to learn something about my own family’s story, and especially that off-limits subject: what life was like when my father was growing up. With my mother, I found out in middle age, rather like Dorothy and her ruby slippers, that all I had to do was ask and she’d take me to her childhood home, she’d bring to light all those things she’d been silent about that had come to me in nightmares for so long. With my father, I first turned to written stories rather than spoken ones for answers.


Oh, what a breath of fresh air a good library is! I know, musty is the usual adjective that is attached to libraries, but not for me. In a free country, one does not have to just “shut up and take it,” as my aunt was told by her mother, remaining in ignorance. All that information there, just for the asking! No one slaps your hand at the card catalogue, or tells you to shut up about your questions as you browse the stacks. I spent several glorious months in the library, finding answers to questions I’d never have dared ask a family member. What I found was that my experience of a conspiracy of silence, an unspoken agreement not to talk about vital parts of our history, the feeling, like the Lady of Shalott, that a curse will fall upon you should you look out from your island to the mainland from whence you came, and connect your story to the web of community, is an experience I share with many of my generation. As I read more and looked more deeply into the history of this country during the early to mid part of the twentieth century, I kept asking friends of mine, well educated, both Jew and Gentile, “Did you know about this? Did your parents tell you about these things?” The silence was deafening. For me, as one who grew up in a world where fiction and dreams held sway, facts, things that really happened, are more than a breath of fresh air; they saved me from suffocating from those “tendrils strong as flesh and blood.”
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I HAD ASSUMED THAT THE touchiness about background was an idiosyncrasy of Salingers (and Caulfields). A few facts were particularly helpful to me in changing this mistaken assumption. When I began looking at Jewish American life in the early part of the twentieth century, around the time my grandparents met and married, I found that many Americans were very much occupied with the vicissitudes of anti-Semitism at that time, and as my aunt said, “talked that way” shamelessly. Prior to 1890, only 2 percent of the approximately 16 million immigrants to America were Jews, the majority of whom were from the more prosperous northern, central, and western parts of Europe. The turn of the century saw a huge increase in immigration, especially of poorer southern and eastern Europeans, including over a million and a half Jews—about 10 percent of the new immigrants.11 Not unlike today, there was much talk at the time about the “problem” of immigrants, whether America could absorb such “barbarian hordes” and retain its values (not to mention preserve the status quo social and economic structure). While New York and New England patricians “generalized about the negative worth of most of the newcomers from Europe and Asia, their most severe racial animus was directed toward the Jews.”12


In mainstream magazines, such as those in which my father published his first stories, as well as in daily newspapers and other forms of mass entertainment, anti-Semitism ran rampant. That bastion of the mythical “good old days” Americana, The Saturday Evening Post (which would later publish several of my father’s early stories), published a series of articles from 1920 to 1921 alleging that the Jews of Poland (such as my grandfather) were, among other things, “human parasites . . . mongoloids not fit to govern themselves.”13


In the interwar years, being identifiably Jewish—having a Jewish name, for example—was generally a great economic and social disadvantage in dealing with wider Gentile America. Many Jewish college students changed their names before they were graduated. One study of name changes in the 1930s in Los Angeles, where Jews were 6 percent of the population but 46 percent of name changes, found that most applicants were married, prosperous Jewish males who lived in mixed Jewish and Christian neighborhoods. Even in the entertainment business, an area in which Jews could find work, Jewish names were often changed for business reasons.


Jews were alleged, by their detractors, to control not only Hollywood but the media in general, and newspapers in particular. At the New York Times, many writers believed that publishers Adolph Ochs and Arthur Hays Sulzberger were so sensitive to such anti-Semitic accusations that they encouraged writers with identifiably Jewish names to use initials instead of their given names in bylines. Thus we read stories by A. (Abraham) H. Raskin, A. H. Weiler, A. M. Rosenthal.14


My father’s first byline in a published work, “The Young Folks” in Story magazine, was Jerome Salinger. By the next piece, a short story called “The Hang of It,” in Collier’s, he was J. D. Salinger. This was something I wondered about growing up, since all his friends called him Jerry as a nickname, not J.D. I knew he thought Jerome was an ugly name, but I thought it was just a matter of personal taste. Jerome is not on my list of top ten beautiful names for boys either, but I chose his middle name, David, for my son’s middle name. “Terrible name,” my father said, scowling, when he heard the news. He often said how much he hated giving his beloved characters “terrible” (“Jewish-sounding” remained unsaid) names, such as Seymour, but that’s just what Seymour’s parents would have done, he said, so he had to do it even though it “nearly killed him.”


The self-esteem of many Jews, most especially those in mixed neighborhoods of middle-to-upper incomes, not surprisingly, suffered.15 One such man, speaking for many, wrote how “embarrassed he had been by other Jews who spoke English badly, who used gestures to emphasize their points, and who interspersed Yiddish words or expressions in their speech.”16 Which brings me back to my great-grandfather Salinger calling out street names on the Madison Avenue bus, “Forty-feef Street, Forty-seex,” and likewise, to Holden’s grandfather from Detroit, “that keeps calling out the numbers of the streets when you ride on the goddam bus with him.”


As my aunt Doris said, “It wasn’t nice to be half-Jewish in those days. It was no asset to be Jewish either, but at least you belonged somewhere.” My great-grandfather could have been on dozens of bus lines throughout greater New York and fit right in. He might have been joined in his joyful recitation by busloads of landsmen who talked the same way. On the Madison Avenue bus, however, he was met with icy or embarrassed stares. There were places a Jew was at home in New York and places he was not.


When my father was growing up, many buildings and even whole areas such as Park Slope and Brooklyn Heights were restricted, as the infamous signs in windows read: “No Catholics, Jews, or dogs allowed.” The courts upheld the right of landlords to restrict until 1948 in Shelly v. Kraemer, when such exclusions were held unenforceable in courts of law. However, the informal effect of being unwelcome, or as my aunt said, “how people talked in those days,” is often, in reality, indistinguishable from legal banning in outcome.17


Kurt Lewin, the psychologist, advised American Jews of that time how and when to inform their children of the situations they might encounter:


The basic fact is that child is going to be a member of a less privileged minority group, and he will have to face this fact. Do not try to avoid a discussion of the subject of anti-Semitism because the problem is bound to arise at some time. The child might not be called a “dirty Jew” until about the fourth grade [later than my father’s unlucky character Lionel, who heard the dirty word kike at age four] . . . he or she could expect to be invited to parties of their Gentile peers until adolescence when the invitations would cease, and both boys and girls, after their high school years, will face discrimination in colleges and in the work place.18


Most Jewish young people in New York during the 1920s and 1930s, however, would experience the rise of anti-Semitism, discrimination, and the Depression from within the closely woven fabric of Jewish community. Such neighborhoods provided a buffer zone from the impact of wider Gentile society. One woman, reflecting on her childhood in a New York neighborhood that was well over 80 percent Jewish, said she didn’t even know she was a member of a minority group until she left high school and tried to find work outside the community. She grew up thinking the whole world was Jewish.19


My father’s childhood Upper West Side neighborhood, for example, was over 50 percent Jewish at the time and, by 1929, was a thriving community with scores of kosher butchers and bakers and restaurants, and ten synagogues. I knew that my father did not attend Jewish religious services as a child and that his family, in fact, celebrated Christmas, so I assumed, even after I had learned that he had grown up thinking he was Jewish, that their sense of belonging to the Jewish community was limited. In fact, I found out that the Salinger family’s lack of religious attendance was not unusual. In 1929, approximately 80 percent of Jewish youth in New York City were found to have had no religious training at all.20


My father attended Upper West Side public schools until the end of eighth grade, where well over half of his classmates were Jewish. The following school year, 1932–33, the family moved to a Park Avenue neighborhood that was less than 4 percent Jewish, and he started high school at McBurney, a private Young Men’s Christian Association movement school. In January he turned fourteen, and at about the same time that Hitler was sworn in as chancellor of Germany, Jerome David Salinger had his bar mitzvah. Sometime within the next year, he and Doris found out their mother was not Jewish. His records at McBurney state that Jerome “was hard hit by adolescence with us this year.” Hard hit indeed.


At the end of tenth grade, when Jerry was fifteen, he transferred from McBurney to Valley Forge Military Academy, in Wayne, Pennsylvania. I’m sorry to say, I don’t know how the whole idea of military school arose. There is a certain poetic symmetry with the Little Indian running away with a suitcase full of toy soldiers, but I just don’t know. It seems like a case of out of the frying pan and into the fire to me. What I found out about military schools of the day certainly supports what my aunt told me, that she thought anti-Semitism at Valley Forge was “hell on Sonny.” Central Pennsylvania, where Valley Forge was located, was rated by a U.S. army war board survey as an epicenter of anti-Semitism in America.21 Regardless of location, hazing at military academies was particularly brutal for the few Jews who chose to apply.22 Admiral Hyman Rickover, one of the nine Jews to graduate from the Annapolis Naval Academy in 1922 out of an entering class of nineteen Jews, indicated that it was hell. In this “fun” class, the senior photograph of a Jewish cadet, who graduated second in his class, was printed on perforated paper so his face could be torn out of the yearbook.


The choice of school and place is a mystery to me. But that is not how my father tells it. Once, when I complained about having been sent away to boarding school at a young age (twelve), my father said he just couldn’t understand my attitude. He was delighted, he said (at sixteen), to be away from home, out from under his parents’ wing. He almost always spoke of his mother’s overprotectiveness as he did most uncomfortable subjects, by kidding around, and not just with family. In the letter he wrote to “Papa” Hemingway from a hospital bed at the end of the war, he jokes about telling the staff psychiatrists the usual details about his normal childhood, such as how his mother walked him to school every day until he was twenty-four—you know how dangerous streets in Manhattan can be, he said.


When we visited my grandparents in New York, Daddy’s reaction to Granny’s well-meant questions—benign things such as asking me about school—seemed to me, even as a little girl, to be way out of line. He’d snap, “Stop that now, Mother! That’s enough, leave them alone, for crying out loud!” I felt sorry for Granny and could see that these little questions gave her pleasure, and I certainly didn’t mind. But what really shocked me was the way it seemed he could do no wrong where she was concerned. I would have been “knocked into the middle of next week,” as he used to say, if I’d spoken that way to my mother or father. Near the end of Granny’s life, when I was in my teens, he was still behaving as if her small questions were giant probes. When he returned from his first visit to see his mother in over a year, he spoke of being “bombarded” with her questions, and how he narrowly escaped a few hours later, hoarse and exhausted. He indeed sounded like, and even had the haggard look of, a man who had survived a particularly grueling interrogation session. Yet he still had the energy to kid around as he reported, straight-faced, that Granny had asked him, “How tall is Peggy? Did she like the navy-blue cardigan screwdriver we sent for Christmas? How tall is Matthew [age eleven or so]? Does he need any more Play-Doh or finger paints?”


This sense of maternal intrusion—a thing so strong it had a bodily feel to it—and the dark humor with which he typically expressed it, runs right down the middle of his fiction as well, especially in the character of Bessie, the matriarch of the Glass family.


Re-seated, Mrs. Glass sighed, as she always sighed, in any situation, when cups of chicken broth were declined. But she had, so to speak, been cruising in a patrol boat down and up her children’s alimentary canals for so many years that the sigh was in a sense a real signal of defeat . . . she had the particular facial expression that her eldest daughter, Boo Boo, had once described as meaning one of only two things: that she had just talked with one of her sons on the telephone or that she had just had a report, on the best authority, that the bowels of every single human being in the world were scheduled to move with perfect hygienic regularity for a period of one full week.


(Zooey, pp. 184–85)23


In my father’s fiction, there is never any doubt of the love the Glass children feel for their mother, Bessie. Nor did I ever doubt for a moment that in real life my father loved his mother; he was quite clear about that even though she sometimes drove him crazy. He would often tell me, in a tone of voice he reserved for those whom he respected, that Granny, though uneducated, “was no dope,” his way of acknowledging someone’s intelligence. He’d tell me stories of her good sense or her good taste; often, I might add, told by way of contrast to his father, whom he considered a great big dope, and never, to my knowledge, spoke of him with any respect. The report is unanimous from my aunt to my mother, to Grandpa’s business partners and my father’s classmates interviewed for various books and myriad articles: his mother “obviously adored her only son.” “They were very close.” As my aunt told me, “It was always Sonny and Mother, Mother and Sonny. Daddy always got the short end of the stick.” Perhaps there is such a thing as too close, “too close for comfort” as the saying goes, and hence the sense of intrusion, and the “delight” he remembers of “getting out from under their wing” and going away to school.


The one thing I know for certain about his going to military school is that it was not something that was forced on him against his will. He was not sent there. First of all, Granny wouldn’t force her son to do anything of the sort; it’s dangerous at military school—all those sabers and guns. Second of all, she wouldn’t have let Grandpa force him to go either. There was no doubt, my aunt said, about who “wore the pants” in their house.


Once he decided he wanted to go, the mechanics of the move are less of a mystery. Hamilton, in his biography, notes that it was Mrs. Salinger and not her husband who took Doris and Sonny to look at the school, and it was she who met with the school representative when he came for a home visit. He cites this as evidence of tension between father and son. Certainly there was tension; however, I think the fact that she alone met with the school officials presents evidence as to the social climate rather than the familial one. It seems far more likely that she dealt with school officials for the same reason that I, alone, dealt with real estate agents and landlords when searching for an apartment in Boston during the mid-seventies when I was, briefly, married to an African American. I’d tell them that my husband was, unfortunately, out of town on business until the end of the month, and I’d sign the necessary papers. While I share my grandmother’s propensity to control things, let’s just say I doubt Granny felt it would be a great asset to her son’s chances of getting into Valley Forge for him to wear a great big sign on his backside that said, “Kick me, I’m Jewish.”


The stories he told me about his life at Valley Forge were about “characters” and “types” and little adventures. They were stories, in hindsight, devoid of affect. I heard about the time he, like Holden, lost the fencing team’s gear on the subway, and the time he and his friend Bill Dix sneaked out of the dorm to have breakfast in town. The pain and suffering I would later read in the story of Holden’s experience in boarding school were not mentioned in the stories my father told me (although, as I said, he told a friend at the time he was working on The Catcher in the Rye that he was writing an autobiographical story).


In the version my father told me of his world at seventeen, he knew he wanted to be—knew he would be—a writer. His mother was the “good guy” in the story, supporting her son in his wishes, whatever they might be. His mother knew her boy to be a genius; as Doris said, from his birth, Sonny was thought “perfect” and “could do no wrong.” History proved his mother right about his talent; however, at the time he was to finish high school, her belief was a matter of faith, rather than reason. My father often told me growing up that his father pressured him to learn the business of J. S. Hoffman and Co., importing Polish meats and other high-end foods. This was always said with resentment, as well as with varying degrees of derision, further proof that Grandpa was a dope. I believed this unquestioningly.


When I became an adult, however, and began to delve into our family history on my own, I found out that Grandpa wasn’t quite the big dope my father always said he was. There was a plethora of good reasons for his concern. I certainly understand that when you’re a teenager who wants to devote himself to writing, and your father doesn’t understand and hassles you to spend a little time learning the family business, you think your father is a big dope. And it is really galling that you have to live at home because you can’t support yourself yet, and that makes him an even bigger dope and a “policeman,” as my father described to me his feelings, as a boy, about his own father, especially when it came to money. But most of us gain some perspective. I’m sure my grandfather asked him some really “dopey” questions such as how a young man, half-Jewish, during the depths of the Depression and heights of anti-Semitism,24 with no college degree, no training, no trade, would support himself, let alone a family.


Economically, this was a particularly bad time to be what my aunt called “neither fish nor fowl.” Contrary to the myth of America’s history of continual progress toward greater opportunities for its citizens, for Jews the clock was running backward in the twenties and thirties. In the 1920s, although Jews made up 26 percent of the population of New York City and were also by far the best-educated group in the community, 90 percent of white-collar openings went to non-Jews.25 As opportunities for employment narrowed for Jews in the Gentile world, Jewish professionals opened Jewish offices, with largely Jewish staff, serving primarily Jewish clientele. Large loans for businesses were obtained through Jewish sources, such as the Jewish “Bank of the United States” and the Hebrew Loan Society. For the vast majority of Jewish immigrant working classes, however, the main source of assistance were societies called landsmanshaftn (hometown societies). These grassroots associations were organized according to immigrants’ European towns of origin, and provided a wide variety of religious, social, and cultural activities along with a range of relief services, financial assistance, and sick benefits. In their heyday, more than three thousand such hometown societies existed (the vast majority still recorded their committee minutes in Yiddish throughout the 1930s). Landsmanshaftn offered their members a source of community on American soil and an economic lifeline—the difference between hunger and food on the table, rags and clothing, homelessness and shelter—during hard times.26


My grandfather had ample reason to be concerned that his son go to a good college and train to be a professional (e.g., a doctor, lawyer, accountant) with real career opportunities or go straight into the family business.27 I knew how my father felt about the family business; he’d occasionally tell me stories about it. His reaction to the entire subject of higher education was something else again—no half-joking stories here—and the whole notion of “getting into a good college” has always been a minefield. He would, indeed, as he once said, “break out with a strange and hideous rash” at the mere mention of anything Ivy League. Truth be told, I thought he was a big bore on the subject, which struck me, as a child and as a teenager, as a weird thing to get all het up about—like raving about state capitals or something—especially since it wasn’t so much about colleges in general as it was focused on the “good” ones or “prestigious” ones, most especially the Ivy League. He spoke of Ursinus, for example (a small college he attended for a year or so), with affection. I dismissed his “thing” about the Ivies as one of Daddy’s idiosyncratic hot spots, just one more in a man with quite his share of them. Common sense made me avoid the subject around him the same way you don’t wave a red flag at a bull.


When I finally read my father’s stories, there it was again: those villainous Ivy Leaguers, bastions of phonydom, one-dimensional, successful, cocksure, anti-landsmen; goyim like Lane Coutell, boyfriend of Franny Glass, or Tupper, her contemptible English professor, both of whom undermined her sense of place in the world and, ultimately, threatened her sanity. I was fascinated to find out that there were some real roots to this reaction of his. History doesn’t necessarily excuse, but it certainly provides a context and explanation. It turns out that when my father was growing up and coming of an age to consider college, some of the most outspoken, eloquent, egregious examples of people who, as my aunt said, “talked that way” about Jews were positively bedecked with Ivy. Dean Frederick Paul Keppel28 of Columbia University, for example, wrote of his concern that too many Jewish immigrants make Columbia “socially uninviting to students who come from homes of refinement.” Dartmouth president Ernest Hopkins29 said, “Any college which is going to base its admissions wholly on scholastic standing will find itself with an infinitesimal proportion of anything else than Jews eventually.”30 It was Harvard, however, whose Jewish population had grown from 6 percent of the student body in 1908 to 22 percent in 1922, that took the lead in proposing a solution to the “Jewish problem.” A. Lawrence Lowell,31 President of Harvard, announced the establishment of numerical quotas to lower the numbers of Jews at the university. Once Harvard took the lead, many of the nation’s most prestigious colleges and universities followed and established their own limits of no more than 3 to 16 percent Jews admitted to the entering class.32


Sarah Lawrence College, in Bronxville, New York—a town that kept Jews out until after the New York State Commission for Human Rights intervened in 1962—asked on its application, “Has your daughter been brought up to strict Sunday observance?” Columbia asked the applicant’s religious affiliation, if he or his parents had ever been known by another name, parents’ place of birth, mother’s full maiden name, and father’s occupation.


How one takes for granted today the precious words “without regard for race, creed, color, or national origin.” In my father’s day, it was equally taken for granted that these things were to be major factors in deciding an applicant’s suitability for housing, jobs, colleges, clubs, loans, and so on. Even when a Jew made it over the quota hurdle and gained admission to these colleges, he or she was confronted with a row of additional hurdles and barriers stretching to the vanishing point. Max Lerner (Yale, BA, 1923) said he and other Jewish classmates were basically “kept out of everything.”33 A contemporary wrote that at social gatherings such as the prom or the class-day tea, “the presence of Jews and their relatives ruins the tone which must be maintained if social standing is not to collapse.”


Myriad examples of anti-Jewish sentiments abound in statistics, articles, speeches, and conversations of the day. Yet what I found to be the most revealing and affecting when I read them were not the statistics nor the diatribes, but rather, the way people talked when they tried to say something nice about a Jew. We have on record, for example, professors’ letters of recommendation for historians Oscar Handlin, Bert Lowenberg, and Daniel Boorstin, then students, for jobs in higher education. They contain phrases like “has none of the offensive traits which people associate with his race,” “by temperament and spirit . . . measures up to the whitest gentile I know,” and “He is a Jew, though not the kind to which one takes exception.” A professor at the University of Chicago wrote of his student, “He is one of the few men of Jewish descent who does not get on your nerves and really behaves like a gentile to a satisfactory degree.”34


English departments, for which my father reserves his most caustic vitriol, in both his real life and in his fiction, considered themselves to be bastions of Anglo-Saxon culture and, as such, were the least welcoming to Jews. When, for example, Max Lerner informed a college instructor with whom he was on good terms that he’d like to teach English at a university, the instructor replied, “Max, you can’t do this. You can’t teach literature. You have no chance of getting a position at any good college. You’re a Jew.” In 1939, when my father was taking a writing course in the evenings at Columbia, Lionel Trilling became the first Jew appointed to a tenure-tract position in English there. His wife, Diana Trilling, later wrote, “It is highly questionable whether the offer would have been made” had her husband borne the surname of his maternal grandfather, Cohen. When Trilling became assistant professor, a colleague stopped by to chat and expressed the department’s hope that the new appointee would not use this opportunity “as a wedge to open the English department to more Jews.”35


Such was the atmosphere when my father was graduated from military school. Ian Hamilton writes blithely of that time in my father’s life as if there were no constraints, only matters of choice and taste:


At this point, Salinger’s conception of a writing career was focused on these two key citadels: New York and Hollywood. It was a conception that had more to do with the world of mass entertainment (movies, plays, big-circulation weeklies, even radio) than with the world of Letters as this would have been perceived by, say, the editors of Partisan Review or by most university English departments. Partly by accident, partly by inclination, Salinger’s literary route was from the outset established as metropolitan, not academic. And this separation had mattered quite a lot. To grasp how much, we need only wonder what Salinger’s writing life would have been like if he had gone to Harvard or Yale. So maybe the arithmetic report [a bad grade in high school] does matter after all. Certainly, his career might have been very different if his first stories had been aimed not at Collier’s but at Partisan Review. (Hamilton, Salinger, p. 37)


Jerome David Salinger, Regis Professor of Literature at Sarah Lawrence. We need only wonder. He could have changed his name, but there was still the little problem with the nose and that darkness. In 1936, my father began his freshman year at NYU. That spring, regardless of his father’s objections and of the economic realities of the day, he dropped out of college and took a job on a cruise ship. In the fall, however, Grandpa’s wishes prevailed and my father went to Vienna, ostensibly to learn the family business, and to polish up his high school German and French by doing some translating for one of Hoffman’s partners. I heard little, growing up, about the family business other than as a joke his dopey father got him into. The Jewish family he stayed with in Vienna, however, was another story. He loved this family.36 And from all accounts the feeling was mutual. He often told me the mother used to call him Jerrila and explained that this was a Yiddish way of expressing affection. I’d have been called Peggila, he told me. I wish I had met them, but they all were killed in concentration camps before I was born.


[image: Images]


AUSTRIA FELL TO HITLER ON March 12, 1938. My father was probably out of Vienna by February, but there is no way he could have been unaware of the Nazi gangs that raided the Jewish quarter where he lived that winter. He only told me about the loving family, not the horror.


I don’t know how he was occupied that summer, but in the fall of ’38 he attended Ursinus College, in Collegeville, Pennsylvania. The college was founded in 1869 by the German Reformed Church and served the Christian, middle-class Pennsylvania Dutch from nearby suburban areas. Go figure. My father had only good things to say about Ursinus and its lack of pretension. I never thought to ask why he left after one semester.


In the spring of 1939, he enrolled in a Friday-evening writing class at Columbia taught by Whit Burnett, the editor of Story magazine. Burnett supported the young writer’s aspirations and gave him his first break. His story “The Young Folks,” a piece about some debutante “types” home from college for the holidays, attending a house party, appeared in the March-April 1940 issue of Story. Making a living as a short-story writer in those days was a long shot, but by no means an impossible dream. Even during the Depression, entertainment sold, and magazines were paying what Brendan Gill called a “king’s ransom” for stories. He said, “It’s hard for writers nowadays to realize how many magazines were vying for short stories in the thirties and forties; hard too to realize how much they paid.” Collier’s, Liberty, and The Saturday Evening Post were paying around $2,000 (about $26,500 in today’s dollars) for a short story.


In the summer of 1940, my father was out of town and spent time on the Cape and in Canada. He wrote to a friend, Elizabeth Murray, the sister of a boy he had gone to school with, that he had started work on an autobiographical novel. The following summer he sold a one-page story called “The Hang of It” about an army brat coming of age and following in his father’s footsteps, which appeared in the July 12 issue of Collier’s. Esquire followed with “The Heart of a Broken Story.” The New Yorker bought his short story introducing Holden Caulfield, “A Slight Incident off Madison,” then changed their minds about publishing it, holding the story until 1945.


The next story to appear in print was a shot aimed directly at the heart of New York WASP “Society” with its exclusive, exclusionary clubs, charity balls, colleges, and social life. “The Long Debut of Lois Taggett” appeared in the September-October 1942 issue of Story magazine, Whit Burnett’s domain. It follows almost as a sequel to “The Young Folks” in tone and character, but it is many shades darker. A New York debutante-type phony is put through purgatory, a hazing as it were, by the author of the story, who at story’s end allows Lois, cleansed and purged, to join the elite club of non-phonies, Salinger’s landsmanshaftn. It seems a reversal, or inverse reflection of the true facts of anti-Semitic culture of the day, where Jewish academics, such as Boorstin and Lerner, were deemed acceptable only if “purged” of their Jewishness. It begins:


Lois Taggett was graduated from Miss Hascomb’s School . . . and the following autumn her parents thought it was time for her to come out, charge out, into what they called Society. So they gave her a five-figure, la-de-da Hotel Pierre affair, and save for a few horrible colds and Fred-hasn’t-been-well-lately’s, most of the preferred trade attended. . . . That winter Lois did her best to swish around Manhattan with the most photogenic of the young men who drank scotch-and-sodas in the God-and–Walter Winchell section of the Stork Club. . . . In the spring, Lois’ Uncle Roger agreed to give her a job as a receptionist in one of his offices. It was the first big year for debutantes to Do Something.


Lois Taggett breaks one of my father’s personal “ten commandments,” which I grew up hearing about in many an emotional hellfire-and-brimstone lecture from him: Thou shalt not “dabble” in the arts. I cringed as I read about Lois’s amateur foray into a course or two at Columbia. My father, in real life, could be brought to the point of almost foaming incoherency when confronted with anyone, but most especially an Ivy League “type,” usually a woman, amusing herself by taking a course in literature or art. It is sacrilege, defiling, to approach this sacred domain with other than a monk’s dedication.37


Quite unexpectedly, Lois falls in love with a man outside her own circle, “tall handsome Bill Tedderton, a press agent.” They marry, she for love, he for her money.


The Taggetts didn’t do very much about it. It wasn’t fashionable any longer to make a row if your daughter preferred the iceman to that nice Astorbilt boy. Everybody knew, of course, that press agents [or writers] were icemen. Same thing.


Several months into the marriage, Bill Tedderton discovers to his astonishment that he has fallen in love with Lois. After a short interlude of marital bliss, he finds himself burning her with a cigarette, loving her deeply; and a few weeks later, never loving her more, smashing his golf club down on her foot.38 He pleads passionately with her to take him back, he’ll see a psychiatrist, he didn’t know what he was doing. Lois divorces him.


She eventually marries a dull, unattractive guy with all the right society credentials. Once again, a year or so later, danger arises in the form of emotional attachment, when she finds herself head over heels in love with her baby. We are treated to a scene of baby and mommy bliss, broken suddenly by the voice of the narrator, who, like the voice of God’s judgment, pronounces: “Then finally she made it.” Her long debut has come to an end, she has come out of it and is no longer a phony. “Everybody seemed to know about it,” the narrator tells us. “Women in general began to look more closely at Lois’ face than at her clothes. . . . It happened about six months after young Thomas Taggett Curfman tossed peculiarly in his sleep and a fuzzy woolen blanket snuffed out his little life.”


[image: Images]


THE PRICE OF ENTRY into this writer’s chosen elect, the elite landsmanshaftn of non-phonies, involves neither money nor background nor education: he requires the sacrifice of her firstborn son. Something about this story gave me the creeps as I read it, as though a cold hand had somehow reached across the boundary of fiction into our life as a family. It was with a vague sense of foreboding that I continued to search out our family stories. I was beginning to feel like one combing the woods for missing persons, dreading lifeless, forensic success as much as the failure of continued unknowing.





1. In her old age, she suffers from macular degeneration.


2. My father’s nickname, Sonny, was given to him at birth by his parents. Ian Hamilton, in his book In Search of J. D. Salinger, claimed that it was at the McBurney School, which my father attended in ninth grade, that “he was nicknamed ‘Sonny’ by his chums, perhaps with a hint of sarcasm.” Please, chums? On the West Side of Manhattan, perhaps? Several of my dad’s army buddies in the foxholes and bloody battlefields of World War II were referred to, by the same scholar, as his colleagues. “Let me confer with my colleague, Rocco,” Jerry said. “Oh, Rocco, would you be so kind as to pass me the ammo?” “Right-o, Sonny old chum,” Rocco expostulated laconically. . . . I can’t stand it.


3. My aunt would later send my son an Indian costume, complete with suede leggings and feathered warbonnet, for his fourth birthday.


4. In the early twenties, when Lionel and Sonny were young, many of the notices by maids seeking employment in the newspapers specified Gentile households only. “Colored woman wants week work; neat; with references; no Jewish people” (Leonard Dinnerstein, Anti-Semitism in America, Oxford University Press, 1944, p. 205). One maid interviewed said, “If the Jews killed the Lord and Master, what won’t they do with a poor nigger like me” (Dinnerstein, p. 198).


5. There is something rather lovely about taking the name of the prophetess Miriam, who sings the triumphant song in Exodus 15:21: “Sing to the LORD, for he has triumphed gloriously; the horse and his rider he has thrown into the sea.” The Oxford Annotated Bible dates this song fragment to the time of an eyewitness to the event in which Pharaoh’s army drowned in the Red Sea while pursuing the Jewish people escaping to freedom from slavery under Pharaoh. Scholars agree it is one of the oldest surviving fragments of Scripture. The name Miriam is thought to mean “revolution.”


6. For comprehensive yet wonderfully readable documentation see chapter 4: “Racism and Anti-Semitism in Progressive America, 1900–1919” in Dinnerstein, Anti-Semitism in America. See also the memoir of an Irish American woman who married a Jew from Chicago: “The Experience of a Jew’s Wife,” The American Magazine 78 (December 1914): pp. 49–86.


7. Holden talks about his “grandfather from Detroit, that keeps calling out the numbers of the streets when you ride on the goddam bus with him” (Catcher, p. 154)—shanda fur die goyim, to do something embarrassing to Jews in a place where non-Jews can observe it.


8. According to Orthodox law, you are not Jewish unless your mother is; the inheritance is matrilineal. One way of trying to find out without asking bluntly “Are you Jewish?” is to ask what your mother’s maiden name is.


9. Sort of like excommunication, or the WASP favorite, disowning or disinheriting, but more to the bone, sitting shiva is to perform the ritual seven days of mourning following a funeral: it is a declaration that the person is dead.


10. Also documented in a letter to Elizabeth Murray (Salinger letters archives, Library of Congress).


11. From 1890 to 1914, a total of 16.5 million people immigrated to America.


12. Dinnerstein, Anti-Semitism, p. 59.


13. “Why Europe Leaves Home” by Kenneth L. Roberts appeared first as a series of articles in The Saturday Evening Post before it was published as a book in 1922.


14. Dinnerstein, Anti-Semitism, p. 126.


15. Beth S. Wenger, New York Jews and the Great Depression (Yale University Press, 1996), especially her chapter “The Spiritual Depression,” about the assault on Jewish self-image during these years.


16. “I Was a Jew,” The Forum 103 (March 1940): p. 10. See also “I Married a Jew,” The Atlantic Monthly 163 (January 1939): pp. 38–46; “I Married a Gentile,” The Atlantic Monthly 163 (March 1939): pp. 321–26. Also, Dinnerstein, Anti-Semitism, p. 293.


17. Helen Reid, the wife of the owner of the New York Herald Tribune, for example, expressed her fears of Jewish migration and its effect not just on property values, but on the values held by her sons: “I hate the thought of [my] Whitelaw and Brownie growing up with nothing but Jewish neighbors around” (Dinnerstein, Anti-Semitism, p. 93).


18. “Bringing Up the Child,” The Menorah Journal 28 (winter 1940): pp. 29–45.


19. Wenger, New York Jews, p. 85.


20. Wenger, New York Jews, p. 184. Another contemporary survey found that in 1935 more than 75 percent of New York Jewish youth had not attended any religious service in the past year. Before the Depression, a minority of Jews was affiliated with a synagogue, and even fewer attended regularly. When synagogues tried to attract new members during the Depression, Jews were appealed to in ethnic rather than specifically religious terms: membership, they were told, was “essential to fortify Jewish self-respect in the face of anti-Semitism.”
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